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Episode 1

Season 1
Episode Number: 1
Season Episode: 1

4 \
Originally aired: Monday January 1, 2024
Writer: Danny Brocklehurst
Director: David Moore
Show Stars: Michelle Keegan (Maya Stern), Richard Armitage (Joe Burkett), Adeel

Akhtar (Sami Kierce), Joanna Lumley (Judith Burkett), Daniel Burt
(Daniel Walker), Dino Fetscher (Marty McGreggor), Marcus Garvey (Ed-
die Walker), Danya Griver (Abby Walker), Hattie Morahan (Caroline
Burkett), Emmett J Scanlan (Shane Tessier), Thea Taylor-Morgan (Lily
Burkett)

Guest Stars: Samuel Glyde-Rees (Young Joe Burkett), Edward Harper-Jones (An-
drew Burkett), James Northcote (Neil Burkett), Adelle Leonce (Eva
Finn), Natalie Anderson (Claire Walker), Natalia Kostrzewa (Izabella
Godek), Clara Indrani (Molly Sardana), Charlotte Melia (Pam Proctor),
Ross Grant (Charlie), Anthony Missen (Dance Instructor), Craige Els
(Coach Phil), Frederick Szkoda (Luka Godek), Joe Armstrong (Alexan-
der Dosman), Bobby Bedi (Local Resident), Ena Begovic (Italian Re-
porter)

Summary: Maya attends the funeral of her murdered husband Joe at his family’s
stately home — then thinks she sees him, days later, on a hidden
nanny cam.

The episode starts with a flashback to
1996, where a group of high school stu-
dents are doing a ritual of some kind. One
boy is seated, tied to the chair, while the
others chant and dance around a camp-
fire.

Presently, we are introduced to Maya
Stern, who is at her husband’s funeral.
As the priest leads the service, Maya rem-
inisces about meeting her husband, Joe
Burkett, at a charity gala a few years
back. They clicked immediately, and a
few months later, they walked down the

aisle and started a new life.

After the funeral, Maya learns that her mother-in-law, Judith Berkett, invited the detective
in charge of her husband’s case to the funeral. Detective Kierce’s presence seems to irk Maya,
probably because the police are no closer to finding Joe’s killer.

Maya confronts Judith, and the mother-in-law insists she wants the detective to understand
who Joe was and his importance. She subtly notes that Maya might be going through more than
grief. This is when we learn that Maya’s sister, Claire, died a few months ago. Judith argues
that Maya should talk to someone about the loss of her sister, being a witness to her husband’s
murder and issues with her job in the army.

Later, Maya returns to her house with a friend, Eva. Eva gifts Maya a digital picture frame
that contains a secret nanny camera. She suggests that Maya uses the nanny cam to casually
keep an eye on her daughter, Lily, when she is away. Maya doubts she will need it as her nanny,
Izabella, is great, but Eva nonetheless puts the frame in Lily’s playroom.
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After a few days, Maya returns to work, and one of her friends, Shane worries if she is grieving
well. He suggests they have a little drinking session with a few people at her house on the
upcoming weekend. At the end of the day, Maya returns home and finds Lily safe and happy. She
and Izabella made angels. As Maya casually goes on with her day, she keeps having flashbacks
of her days in the military and has a hard time sleeping.

The following morning, Maya prepares Lily’s breakfast and gets a call from Judith inviting
them over to her place on the weekend. Maya declines the offer. She then checks the nanny
camera and is shocked to see her dead husband hugging their child. She rushes to Lily and
tries to ask the little girl, but the cutie is of no help. Maya runs to her bedroom and realises the
clothes Joe was wearing in the footage are missing.

At the same time, Izabella arrives, and Maya quickly shows her the footage. Izabella denies
seeing Joe in the footage and claims Maya has gone crazy. Maya grabs her arm and tries to
shove her towards the computer. Lily is surprised by the commotion and calls out to her mom.
This helps Maya calm down, and Izabella asks for some water. Maya turns to grab a glass and
is surprised when Izabella seizes the opportunity and pepper sprays her face. By the time Maya
recovers, Izabella is long gone.

Later, Detective Kierce drops by and worries about Maya’s condition. She tells him about the
footage on the nanny cam and is shocked to discover that Izabelle took the SD card. Detective
Kierce is more inclined to think Maya is hallucinating from grief. He asks her a few questions
about the night of the attack.

Maya explains how she and her husband were cornered by two men riding motorcycles in a
park. The men attempted to rob the couple, but they fought back. One thing led to another, and
before she knew it, Joe took three bullets to the chest. Detective Kierce then asks about Maya’s
gun and takes her Glock to test it since Joe was shot with a Glock. Before leaving, Kierce advises
Maya to take it easy.

On his way back to the office, Detective Kierce loses control of his car and rams into a fence.
It seems like he passed out. He texts someone that it happened again, implying this is not the
first time he passed out. He lies to his boss that he got into an accident trying to avoid hitting
a cat. His boss is wary of his explanation and wonders if he is drinking again. Detective Kierce
insists he is sober and asks for a new car.

His boss suspiciously agrees, but only on the condition that Kierce partners up with a young
detective, Marty McGregor. Kierce is unpleased, but it is what it is. Marty is soon caught up with
the case and happily joins Kierce in the investigation. They return to the park and try to go over
Maya’s statement. Kierce shares that Maya might be going through too much after losing her
sister only four months ago. He also has suspicions about whether Maya killed her husband. He
and Marty try to find possible motives while the lab tests Maya’s gun and works on a ballistic
report.

Meanwhile, Judith gets a call from Maya asking about Joe’s body. Maya never saw Joe’s dead
body and wants to know what Joe looked like when he died. Judith finds this question odd but
still answers it. She advises Maya to seek help as she seems to be losing it. However, Maya is not
giving up and tries to reach Izabella.

After the nanny refuses to pick up her calls, Maya drives to her sister’s place and catches
up with her nephew and niece. She is not surprised to see that Claire’s husband, Eddie, is still
grieving and relying a bit too much on alcohol to get through the day. She tries to talk to him,
but he is not open to suggestions, especially on what to do with Claire’s things. He still has his
late wife’s things piled in boxes scattered all over the house.

After her fight with Ediie, Maya visits Judith and is surprised to see Detective Kierce there.
The detective claims he is there to update Judith on the case. Maya brings up the nanny cam
and Izabella stealing the SD card. She says it is strange how the nanny has been ignoring her,
and Detective Kierce offers to tag along while Maya confronts Izabella. However, Maya refuses
and goes alone. Unfortunately, Izabella refuses to let Maya in.

Elsewhere, Detective Kierce joins his pregnant fiancée at their dancing lesson classes. They
are four weeks away from their wedding and have yet to learn their dance. They later get dinner,
and Kierce whines about his new young partner, who gets on his nerves.

After failing to talk to Izabella, Maya goes to her niece’s football practice game and keeps
seeing Joe at every turn. She gets into an altercation with the coach for being rude and draws
his pants down, exposing him in front of everyone. Her actions lead to Eddie asking her to keep
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her distance from the kids. He blames her for the deaths around her, and Maya tries to reason
with him, but it is useless; the guy has made up his mind.

Soon, the weekend draws by, and Maya has a few friends over. She confides in Shane and
tells him he thinks she is being followed. She asks him to look into the car she has noticed tailing
her. As they talk, Maya gets a call from Judith about Izabelle stopping by to say she is quitting.
Maya asks Judith to keep Izabella there until she arrives. Sadly, Judith refuses to do so, and
Maya is forced to tail the nanny as she tries to leave the family estate.

After a short, wild chase, Maya corners Izabella, but the nanny’s boyfriend distracts the former
while Izabella runs into the woods. In anger, Maya confronts Judith for trusting the nanny over
her. She mentions the footage on the nanny cam and demands answers. Judith claims Maya is
hallucinating and insists Joe is dead. She says Maya needs to deal with everything on her plate
and questions if Maya is stable enough to raise Lily. Maya warns her not to cross the line.

Their fight continues as Judith suggests that Maya never loved Joe. Maya responds that she
did, but Judith never accepted that she was good enough for her son. Maya drives back home
and finds Detective Kierce and Marty waiting for her. They've got the ballistics report back and
learnt that Joe and Claire were killed using the same gun. However, Maya was away on military
duty when Claire died.

Meanwhile, a strange man leaves a sunflower bouquet and a note on Claire’s tombstone.
Shane watches over Lily and the football coach, suspiciously covering bloodspots in his van.
Izabella checks the footage and sees Joe while Judith visits her sons’ graves.

The episode ends with a flashback to the strange ritual in 1996. Something went awfully
wrong that day... but what?
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Episode 2

Season 1
Episode Number: 2
Season Episode: 2

4 \
Originally aired: Monday January 01, 2024
Writer: Danny Brocklehurst
Director: David Moore
Show Stars: Michelle Keegan (Maya Stern), Richard Armitage (Joe Burkett), Adeel

Akhtar (Sami Kierce), Joanna Lumley (Judith Burkett), Daniel Burt
(Daniel Walker), Dino Fetscher (Marty McGreggor), Marcus Garvey (Ed-
die Walker), Danya Griver (Abby Walker), Hattie Morahan (Caroline
Burkett), Emmett J Scanlan (Shane Tessier), Thea Taylor-Morgan (Lily
Burkett)

Guest Stars: Natalie Anderson (Claire Walker), Karishma Navekar (Kitty Shum),
Adelle Leonce (Eva Finn), Jade Anouka (Nicole Butler), Natalia
Kostrzewa (Izabella Godek), Sam Crerar (H), Miles Yekinni (Billy
Bosworth), Clara Indrani (Molly Sardana), John Tueart (Gary), James
Northcote (Neil Burkett), Nicola Brome (Heather Howell), Cynthia
Emeagi (Nurse), Manoj Anand (WFA Pilot Instructor), Ravi Multani
(WFA Pilot Instructor), Mark Rainsbury (Cafe Customer), Jatinder Re-
hal (WFA Pilot Instructor)

Summary: News about the murder weapon sets the investigation on a new course.
Maya goes searching for answers and learns something surprising
about her sister.

The episode starts with a flashback to
when Maya was still working at an army
base. She then gets a call from Joe, in-
forming her that something terrible has
happened to Claire. Maya immediately
flew home, and Joe lovingly comforted her
as she mourned her sister.

Presently, Detective Kierce and Marty
are still at Maya’s house, trying to find
the connection between Clair and Joe’s
deaths. Detective Kierce asks more ques-
tions on the relationship between Claire
and Joe. Maya explains that the two got
along and worked together. She is clear that the two were not having an affair.

The detectives soon leave after getting through all their questions. On the way out, Detective
Kiece is shocked to discover that Marty lied about being married when questioning Maya. He
advises the young detective to stop lying as it is bad policing.

The following day, Maya drops Lily at a local day-care and heads to work. However, she keeps
thinking back to the new lead about the gun. She decides to drop by Eva’s place to ask her some
questions. Maya’s work kept her away from home a lot, but she believes Eva would know more
about what was happening in Claire’s life before she was killed. Even though Eva has issues with
her crazy ex, she is willing to help Maya with her problem.

Eva reveals that Claire was acting strange a few weeks before she died. She recalls a lunch
date with Claire. Apparently, Claire got a mysterious call on her burner phone, and her whole
demeanour changed. She excused herself to pick up the call and seemed agitated. Maya gets
pissed that Eva never told the police about Claire’s burner phone and never pushed Claire to say
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more about the call. Eva claims she was scared that Claire was having an affair and didn’t want
to ruin her family after her death. Maya leaves after scolding her.

Elsewhere, Detective Kierce meets with Nicole, his AAA sponsor. She chastises him for missing
their meetings and advises him to see a doctor. Kierce is scared to find out what is happening
and lose his job if he is too sick. Nicole suggests he visit a private hospital.

After leaving Eva’s place, Maya heads to Claire’s house and checks her sister’s old secret
hiding place. There she finds the burner phone, but it is dead. She is interrupted by Eddie, who
demands she leaves and give him the phone. Maya asks him if Claire was having an affair, and
he gets more angry and starts crying. He denies that Claire was having an affair but admits they
were distant at the time of her death. Eddie refuses to let Maya take the phone, and she easily
takes him down before leaving.

By the time he follows her out, she is driving off. This exchange catches Claire’s daughter’s
attention, and she asks what phone her dad is referring to. The girl starts having more questions,
and Eddie tries to comfort her. He allows the kids to go through their mom’s stuff. They find old
stuff from Claire’s teenage years. They find a camera and decide to print the photos in it. This
leads them to discover that their mom was pregnant long before they were born.

At the police station, Marty and Kierce continue looking into the two murders and the possible
motives behind them. Kierce thinks that the answers might lie with Izabella, the nanny. She
might have seen or heard something while working for the Burkett’s.

They visit the nanny, and she says that Maya has gone crazy, hallucinating over her dead
husband. She denies taking the SD and lies that Maya attacked her out of the blue. On the affair
between Joe and Claire, she says that it never happened. Joe was in love with his wife, but she
felt he was too good for Maya. Damn!

In the meantime, Maya charges the burner phone and goes through the content. She finds a
number that Claire called multiple times before her death. She googles the number and discovers
it belongs to a local arcade club. She visits the club but doesn’t get any answers or new leads.
The owner claims he doesn’t know Joe or Claire.

After a day of sleuthing, Maya gets a call from Judith reminding her about the will reading
the next day. While on the phone with Judith, Maya notices the red car that has been following
her. She starts to panic as she is at Lily’s daycare to pick her up. However, she ignores it and
heads home. She replaces the SD card in the digital picture frame and tries to catch some sleep.

The next morning, Detective Kierce passes out on his kitchen floor. This makes him anxious
to drive his fiancée to her monthly check-up. He initiates a fight and makes her drive. They safely
arrive at the hospital and enjoy seeing a scan of their baby. Detective Kierce is scared and wants
to protect his family but is not ready to tell his fiancée about his blackouts.

At the same time, Shane updates Maya on the car following her. So far, he has been unable
to find out more. He only discovered that the car belongs to a company called WICX. It is an
anonymous company. Shane promises to look deeper into it while Maya heads to the will reading.

Shane reveals to Maya that she might need the money to deal with the return of Corey the
Whistle. Maya is displeased to hear this, saying she lost her job because she helped him reveal
some things about the army. Apparently, she gave him an audio, and he used only half of it.
Shane worries that his return means more trouble, but Maya just wants to move on with her life.

At the will reading, the family reunites to hear Joe’s last wishes but are surprised when
the lawyer announces there is a delay. Unfortunately, they are yet to get the death certificate.
Suspicious, ain’t it?

Caroline, Joe’s sister confides in Maya that she thinks it is strange how there is no death
certificate. She brings up Andrew’s death. Andrew is their deceased brother. According to Joe,
Andrew jumped to his death, but his mom insisted he had a tragic accident at sea. Caroline
thinks Joe and Andrew were his mom’s favourites. She asks Maya about seeing Joe’s dead body
and claims Judith didn’t allow her to see Joe’s body.

This is one of the reasons Caroline is suspicious about whether Joe is truly dead. Maya tries
to convince her that Joe is gone. The second reason is Caroline discovered that the family is
paying Detective Kierce money from one of their private bank accounts. Maya is shocked to learn
this.
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Episode 3

Season 1
Episode Number: 3
Season Episode: 3

4 N\
Originally aired: Monday January 01, 2024
Writer: Charlotte Coben
Director: David Moore
Show Stars: Michelle Keegan (Maya Stern), Richard Armitage (Joe Burkett), Adeel

Akhtar (Sami Kierce), Joanna Lumley (Judith Burkett), Daniel Burt
(Daniel Walker), Dino Fetscher (Marty McGreggor), Marcus Garvey (Ed-
die Walker), Danya Griver (Abby Walker), Hattie Morahan (Caroline
Burkett), Emmett J Scanlan (Shane Tessier), Thea Taylor-Morgan (Lily
Burkett)

Guest Stars: James Northcote (Neil Burkett), Cynthia Emeagi (Nurse), Adelle Leonce
(Eva Finn), Sam Crerar (H), Chris Hannon (Woodland Student), Laurie
Kynaston (Corey Rudzinski), Natalie Anderson (Claire Walker), Rachel
Denning (Katie Crabbe), Craige Els (Coach Phil), Charlie Cain (Louis),
Joe Armstrong (Alexander Dosman), Syreeta Kumar (Oona Dark), Abid
Mohammed (Assistant at Photography Shop), Sameera Shahid (IT Con-

sultant)

Summary: Maya chases the car that's been following her. With the adults dis-
tracted, Claire’s children investigate the mystery of their mother’s old
photo.

| J

The episode starts with Maya looking
into Detective Kierce after that bomb-
shell from Caroline about him being on
the Burkett’s payroll. She talks to Judith
about Caroline’s mental health and ex-
presses her concern. Judith says Caro-
line is highly sensitive and losing it. She
explains that was the reason she didn’t
allow her to view Joe’s dead body.

Maya asks about Detective Kierce,
and Judith denies any involvement. Their
conversation is interrupted by Neil. Neil
asks Maya to leave, saying she is hurt-
ing his mother with inconsiderate questions, and denies paying the detective. Elsewhere, Kierce
visits the hospital for his first rounds of tests.

On the other hand, Alexa and Dan look into their mom’s old boyfriend, Alexander. Dan believes
Alexander left their mom a note and a bouquet on her grave. They soon track down Alexander
and discover he has recently moved back into town and works for one of the big tech companies.
They worry that he was involved in their mom’s death but are uncertain if they can talk to the
police or their dad.

Eddie is already struggling, and the police will find their evidence insufficient. They decide to
play Sherlock Holmes and investigate further.

After his hospital visit, Kierce and Marty continue working on the case. They try to get CCTV
footage from the park’s surroundings and find a connection between Claire and Joe’s murder.
They zero in on Eddie and decide to get his alibi statement on the night Joe died. Kierce asks
Marty to drive since he fears he will black out again. They visit Eddie, and he claims he was
at a gym the night in question. Kierce and Marty don’t believe him for one second and try to
investigate further.
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As for our girl Maya, she visits Eva and informs her that she found the burner phone. How-
ever, there were no messages, just back-and-forth calls from an arcade club. As they talk, Maya
realises that the calls took place before the arcade club opened. She decides to go back before
the arcade opens and watch. She finds the red car that has been tailing her parked outside and
quickly hides a tracker on it before she is discovered by staff and sent away.

Maya hides and waits to see the owner of the car. She tails the car but unfortunately loses
them on the highway. She heads back to work and asks Shane to keep tabs on the car. She tells
him about Caroline’s allegations and begs him to look into Kierce for her. Shane calls her during
her flight lesson and tells her he lost track of the car when it got into the woods.

Maya realises the location is close to her and uses the helicopter to track the car. She follows
it deeper into the woods and lands the aircraft when she loses the car. Her student is stunned,
but Maya is determined to speak to her stalker. Two men accost her, and they are about to get
into a serious altercation when Corey shows up and says he will talk to her.

He takes her to his hideout, and they talk about Claire. Maya blames him for ruining her life
and wants to know how he is involved with her sister. Corey reveals that Claire contacted him in
a bid to protect Maya. She begged him not to disclose the entire audio contents, and in return,
Claire gave him information on Burkett Global. Maya blames Claire’s death on Corey. However,
Corey blames the Burkett family, arguing that Joe and Claire were working together, and they
both were killed mysteriously. He believes they came across a big secret and were killed for it.

Corey reveals that before she died, Claire called him and said that the Burketts have been
paying a guy named Tommy Dark for the past 26 years. Tommy runs a security firm for shipping
companies. Corey also mentions that a few days before his death, Joe contacted him, asking to
meet in person. Sadly, he was killed before that happened. Maya is unsure what to believe, and
Corey says he also wants justice and suggests they work together.

Maya starts by visiting Tommy’s company but doesn’t find him. Instead, the secretary quits
and asks her to pass a message to Tommy. The secretary informs her that Claire also visited
Tommy but never met him. Maya then visits Tommy’s house and is told by the wife that he is
away. She asks the wife about the payments, but she is of no help.

Maya leaves her contact card behind but she ends up late to the shooting range and says she
is in a mood. Shane tries to find out what is going on, and she talks about Tommy and Andrew.
She begs Shane to look into a connection between the two.

On the other side of town, Shane checks out Kierce and tracks him at his favourite food truck.
He starts a casual conversation over the case, and Kierce is onto him immediately. Kierce reveals
that Maya is not doing well and is hallucinating about her dead husband.

Meanwhile, after Alexa’s football practice, she and Dan visit Alexander’s workplace, and he
immediately recognises them. He promises to talk to them later at his house and sends them
away. Alexa and Dan visit him at his home, and Dan stays outside to keep watch while Alexa
goes in.

At the police office, Marty starts looking into Kierce’s accident. The two detectives find a new
lead after securing footage near the park. They spot the bikes Maya mentioned and trace one of
the bike’s owners. Surprisingly, the bike belongs to Phil, the football coach.

Another twist crops up when Caroline follows her mom to a secret room in the house and
stumbles upon Joe’s clothes. The ones Maya saw him wearing on the nanny cam footage.

Concurrently, Maya heads home and prepares Lily for bed. She then checks Corey’s website
and finally falls asleep. She is awoken from her nightmare by the sound of Lily crying. She
rushes to the child’s bedroom, but Lily is not on her bed. Maya grabs a secret Glock from her
gun collection. Why did she lie about her gun collection?
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Episode 4

Season 1
Episode Number: 4
Season Episode: 4

( N\
Originally aired: Monday January 01, 2024
Writer: Yemi Oyefuwa
Director: Nimer Rashed
Show Stars: Michelle Keegan (Maya Stern), Richard Armitage (Joe Burkett), Adeel

Akhtar (Sami Kierce), Joanna Lumley (Judith Burkett), Daniel Burt
(Daniel Walker), Dino Fetscher (Marty McGreggor), Marcus Garvey (Ed-
die Walker), Danya Griver (Abby Walker), Hattie Morahan (Caroline
Burkett), Emmett J Scanlan (Shane Tessier), Thea Taylor-Morgan (Lily
Burkett)

Guest Stars: Joe Armstrong (Alexander Dosman), Jade Anouka (Nicole Butler),
Craige Els (Coach Phil), Kevin Shen (Dr Wu), Syreeta Kumar (Oona
Dark), Edward Harper-Jones (Andrew Burkett), Samuel Glyde-Rees
(Young Joe Burkett), Lawrence Hodgson-Mullings (PJ), Laurie Kynas-
ton (Corey Rudzinski), Charlie Cain (Louis), Sofia Price (Shopper)

Summary: The detectives question the owner of the motorbike from the crime
scene. Kierce’s condition catches up with him at a critical moment.

The episode picks up with Maya investi-
gating who is in her house. It turns out
to be Shane, and he says he found Lily
crying and Maya screaming in her sleep.
Maya is relieved and drops her gun but
feels like Shane is judging her parenting
skills.

After putting Lily to bed, Shane sug-
gests Maya see a therapist if she is strug-
gling, but she insists she is fine. He
updates her on his recent findings on
Tommy and discovers that he was a ma-
rine and captain of the yacht that Andre
died on. Maya wonders if Tommy was being paid to hide the truth about Andrew’s suicide by
making it look like an accident. Shane also brings up Kierce and says he looks clean.

He asks why Maya never told him about seeing Joe on the nanny camera. Maya tells him she
doesn’t think the footage was from an old recording. Shane and Maya go over the evidence and
whether it is true, Joe faked his death. The exercise is supposed to help Maya think rationally
and realise Joe is truly dead. Shane, however, says she might be right and Joe faked his death,
and that is why there is an issue with the death certificate. Maya also thinks someone other than
Joe is messing with her.

Meanwhile, Alexa talks with Alexander and realises the man has no clue that Claire got preg-
nant. He certainly didn’t kill her, and they were young lovers who met on a vacation and broke
up when the holiday ended. They didn’t keep tabs on each other and Alexander is shaken to
learn he has a kid out there. He asks Alexa for more information, but she abruptly leaves.

Elsewhere, Nicole checks in on Kierce and advises him to visit the hospital and attend their
meetings. She feels Kierce is pulling away from his friends and family and wants to keep him on
track. Their conversation is interrupted by Marty, who informs him that Phil’s lawyer has arrived
and that they are free to carry out the interrogation.

During the interrogation, Phil refuses to answer questions but admits the bike belongs to
him. He claims the bike was stolen a few weeks ago, and Kierce questions why he didn’t report it.
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Kierce clarifies that this is a serious matter as the bike was used in a murder, and Phil insists he
has an alibi. Phil claims the police have no definitive evidence that he was on the bike the night
Joe got killed. However, Kierce brings up Phil’s teenage son, PJ, who also uses the bike. He asks
Phil to bring the boy in for questioning the next day.

Later, Kierce asks Marty to request surveillance on Phil and PJ, plus confirm Eddie’s ibi.
Kierce says he has some things to take care of and asks Marty to contact him if a new lead pops
up. The only lead Marty finds is that Kierce lied about his accident; there was no cat.

Meanwhile, Kierce gets a clue on his way out and decides to follow Phil after seeing him get
into a car belonging to one of Burkett’s companies. He calls Marty and informs him that he is
surveilling Phil without the necessary paperwork.

On the other side of town, Maya meets with Eddie and his kids at the pa k. Alexa asks about
her mom’s old boyfriend and pregnancy. Their conversation is interrupted by Eddie. He and
Maya hush up their differences and apologise to each other. They talk about the investigation
into Claire’s death, and Maya reveals that Claire was involved with Corey. She begged Corey not
to reveal the second half of the audio as it would only make matters worse for Maya.

Maya believes Claire protected her when she got into a deal with Corey to expose and take
down the Burketts. She is not sure what happened but is looking into it. Maya thanks Eddie for
being patient with her and tells him he is the only one he trusts to look after Lily if something
happens. She asks Eddie to watch Lily while she checks something out.

While Kierce follows Phil, Marty realises that Eddie lied about his alibi. He leaves a message
to update Kierce. On the other hand, Kierce follows Phil into the school, where he meets with PJ,
but Kierce blacks out before he can eavesdrop on their conversation. Marty finds him later after
numerous attempts to reach him and helps him. Kierce finally comes clean about his blackouts,
and Marty worries for him. They bond, and Marty reveals he is gay.

In the meantime, Maya gets a call from Judith asking her to reconsider bringing Lily to the
estate. She is later ambushed by a therapist, Dr Wu, whom Shane sent Maya begrudgingly talks
to him and opens up about the 'hallucination’ and the nightmares. Her time in the army was hard
on Maya, and she blames herself for an incident that happened in the army. Dr Wu suggests she
stop running from the issues, and Maya asks if her Joe hallucinations might be related to her
PTSD. Dr Wu informs her that she is having flashbacks and not necessarily hallucinations. He
believes Maya needs to forgive herself to heal over time truly.

After the session, Tommy’s wife calls Maya and frantically asks to meet. The wife did some
digging and found something suspicious. The wife found evidence of Tommy being paid by the
Burketts and is worried as she has been unable to reach her husband in the past six weeks.

She is not the only person looking for someone. Claire’s kids rummage through her stuff and
learn she signed up to trace her DNA a few years back. They log into the app and try to find
their half-brother. Unfortunately, they leave a piece of the evidence behind, and Eddie finds it. e
rushes out to punch Alexander at his house.

Following the meeting with Tommy’s wife, Maya visits Judith and demands to know why
Tommy is on her payroll. Judith claims she has no clue who Tommy is, so Maya refreshes her
memory and brings up Andrew. Their argument gets intense as Judith tries to stall, saying she
won’t relive the pain. After Maya insists, Judith says Andrew’s case wasn’t an accident, and Maya
says Joe mentioned it was ruled as suicide.

She also brings up Detective Kierce, and Judith says she is not paying the detective and
Caroline is sick. She tells Maya that Caroline is at a mental hospital getting the help she needs
and that the family is paying Tommy to maintain their image. Suicide is not something that
Judith wants to be associated with. Judith questions if Maya is okay and warns her not to
hurt the family anymore. However, as Maya leaves, we spot Caroline watching her through the
window. Isn’'t she supposed to be at the hospital?

After the intense confrontation, Maya visits the arcade club to meet with Corey. She asks him
to look into Tommy since he has been missing and tries to track him down. Corey worries that
they might be the next to die and blames himself for Claire’s death. However, Maya says she is
to blame because Claire got mixed up with Corey to protect her. It turns out Maya accidentally
killed some civilians during a mission.

Corey mentions Shane and asks why Maya is keeping in touch with Shane. It seems whatever
is on the audio will affect Shane, too. Corey says that Maya has suffered enough when she asks
why he didn’t reveal the second part of the tape.
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After her long day, Maya visits Eddie’s place and the kids bombard her with questions about
their half-brother. Maya suggests they talk to Eddie, but Alexa says their dad is not okay. He
just stormed out. Since Alexa is worried that the brother might have killed their mom, Maya tells
them about Claire’s first pregnancy. Unknown to them, their half-brother is closer than they can
imagine.

Elsewhere, Kierce and Marty get proof that Eddie lied about his alibi because he was with a
woman the night Joe died.

The episode ends with Shane sneaking into Maya’s compound and putting a tracker on her
car, which sets off her alarm, but Maya doesn’t think much of it.
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Episode 5

Season 1
Episode Number: 5
Season Episode: 5

4 N\
Originally aired: Monday January 01, 2024
Writer: Nina Metivier
Director: Nimer Rashed
Show Stars: Michelle Keegan (Maya Stern), Richard Armitage (Joe Burkett), Adeel

Akhtar (Sami Kierce), Joanna Lumley (Judith Burkett), Daniel Burt
(Daniel Walker), Dino Fetscher (Marty McGreggor), Marcus Garvey (Ed-
die Walker), Danya Griver (Abby Walker), Hattie Morahan (Caroline
Burkett), Emmett J Scanlan (Shane Tessier), Thea Taylor-Morgan (Lily
Burkett)

Guest Stars: Natalie Anderson (Claire Walker), Adelle Leonce (Eva Finn), James
Northcote (Neil Burkett), Clara Indrani (Molly Sardana), Charlie Cain
(Louis), Craige Els (Coach Phil), Nicholas Farrell (Neville Lockwood),
Jade Anouka (Nicole Butler), Natasha Joseph (Dr Leah Garrison), Eva
Scott (Jenny), Edward Harper-Jones (Andrew Burkett), Samuel Glyde-
Rees (Young Joe Burkett), Anna-Maria Everett (Raisa Mora), Lau-
rie Kynaston (Corey Rudzinski), Joe Armstrong (Alexander Dosman),
Lawrence Hodgson-Mullings (PJ), James Robinson (Teacher)

Summary: Maya sees an unexpected face when she takes Lily to see her grand-
mother. Kierce struggles to come to terms with his test results.

The episode starts with Maya waking up
from a nightmare about Joe. She hears a
knock on the door and finds a frantic Eva
crying outside her house. She is scared
that her stalker ex has hacked her nanny
camera to spy on her. She worries that
the same thing might happen to Maya
and is there to warn her.

This is a blessing in disguise as Maya
learns that someone can hack the cam-
era. She wonders if someone can plan
footage or upload something to the cam-
era. She thinks maybe someone planted
Joe’s footage in her nanny camera, but why? She calls Shane and asks for his help. He looks for
evidence that someone hacked into her Wi-Fi and finds nothing suspicious.

Kierce interrupts them and updates Maya on the case. Maya finds it disappointing that the
police arrested and then released someone. Kierce asks more questions about the men who
attacked her and Joe, but Maya says it was dark and didn’t see their faces. She is unable to give
any identification. She notes that Kierce’s hands are shaking, but he insists he is okay. Shane
decides to take Maya and Lily out to distract them. Maya then gets a call from Judith, begging
her to bring Lily around the estate.

Elsewhere, Marty finally meets Molly and realises Kierce has yet to tell her about his black-
outs. He confronts Kierce and asks him to tell Molly before the wedding.

Meanwhile, Alexa joins the DNA site hoping to learn more about her half-brother and gets a
message. However, she decides to keep this from Dan and investigate more independently. She
is surprised to learn that her half-brother is Louis, the young man who works at their school. He
confesses he took the job to be close to them and Claire.
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He and Claire had started meeting to learn more about each other, but she died before they
could spend more time together. He also reveals that Claire took him to a posh school days before
her death and asked him to pretend he wanted to be a student there. Alexa calls Maya, who is
at Judith’s house and tells her everything. Alexa finishes up her conversation with Louis and
is quite rude to him. Understandably, she just found out the truth and asks for time to think
things over.

After the call, Maya spots Caroline, who runs away, and Maya tries to follow her. She ends up
in a hallway upstairs and sees old family photos. She notes the name of Joe’s school and decides
to investigate further. She leaves Lily with he grandmother and drives to the school. There, she
sneaks into the principal’s office and is caught.

The principal agrees to talk to her after she explains she is Joe’s wife and threatens to ask
Judith to withdraw her financial support from the school. We finally learn what happened that
fateful day in 1996 and that Claire was investigating the death of a student named Theo Mora.
Theo and Joe were friends, and the former died due to alcohol poisoning.

Apparently, a few boys went wild in their celebrations after winning a game, and one thing
led to another. The headmaster sums up the incident as an unfortunate accident and boys
being boys. He asks Maya not to disturb the boy’s family. However, the headmaster thinks that
Andrew’s death was caused by the grief of losing his best friend Theo. Maya asks who else was
on the yacht when Andrew died, and the headmaster names a boy — Christopher Swain.

At Eddie’s home, their dad reveals some truth about what he was doing the night Joe died. He
lied about his alibi, and after pressure from the detectives, he comes clean about almost having
an affair with a random woman, and it seems there is no evidence he did something wrong.

In the meantime, Kierce visits the hospital to get tested, and Nicole escorts him. She tries to
encourage him and hope for the best. The doctors explain to Kierce that he has a degenerative
condition, but they have yet to learn more. However, his condition is escalating quickly, and he
worries that his alcoholism led to this. The doctors are unsure but try to explain as much as
possible.

Kierce heads to his appointment with Molly at the church and tells her that he can’t go
through with the marriage. He runs off and ends up on a bridge. He seems to be on his end
wits, and he calls Nicole to help him through this crisis. He is scared to burden Molly with
his condition and blames himself for everything. Kierce ignores Marty’s numerous calls and
messages. This leaves Marty to continue investigating the case on his own. Marty is looking into
the coach’s son as he is suspicious.

As Maya continues her investigation into Theo, she gets a call from Eddie that Alexa is miss-
ing. Maya updates him on what Alexa has been up to, and Eddie gets angry at her for keeping
him in the dark. He goes to Alexander’s place to ask if he has seen Alexa again. He explains why
he punched him the other day and suggests Alexander tries to get close to his son. As they talk,
Alexa calls back and says she is fine.

Maya visits Theo’s home and talks to his mom. The mom believes that something terrible
happened to her son, and the rich folks at the school hid the truth. She and her husband
couldn’t do much as they come from humble beginnings, and Theo was a scholarship student.
She tells Maya that Andrew probably committed suicide out of guilt.

After talking to Theo’s mom, Maya receives a signal from Corey, implying they need to meet
at the arcade club. Corey found a lead in Tommy’s recent activities. Tommy is MIA, but it seems
he was renting a storage place, and they decide to investigate why and what Tommy was hiding.

They drive to the storage unit, and Corey reveals that Claire found out that Burkett’'s phar-
maceutical company produced antibiotics that caused addiction and numerous deaths across
the globe. However, the Burketts refuse to recall the drug and are trying to hide the truth and
pass the blame. Corey thinks Claire found out more about this and was killed. They arrive at the
storage unit and find Tommy’s body stashed in a freezer.
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Episode 6

Season 1
Episode Number: 6
Season Episode: 6

( \
Originally aired: Monday January 01, 2024
Writer: Tom Farrelly
Director: Nimer Rashed
Show Stars: Michelle Keegan (Maya Stern), Richard Armitage (Joe Burkett), Adeel

Akhtar (Sami Kierce), Joanna Lumley (Judith Burkett), Daniel Burt
(Daniel Walker), Dino Fetscher (Marty McGreggor), Marcus Garvey (Ed-
die Walker), Danya Griver (Abby Walker), Hattie Morahan (Caroline
Burkett), Emmett J Scanlan (Shane Tessier), Thea Taylor-Morgan (Lily
Burkett)

Guest Stars: Jade Anouka (Nicole Butler), Charlotte Melia (Pam Proctor), Judy Loe
(Glamorous Woman), Paul Bridges (Tony), Thom Petty (Moderator),
Clara Indrani (Molly Sardana), Natalie Anderson (Claire Walker), Char-
lie Cain (Louis), Laurie Kynaston (Corey Rudzinski), Rachel Denning
(Katie Crabbe), Syreeta Kumar (Oona Dark), Frederick Szkoda (Luka
Godek), Natalia Kostrzewa (Izabella Godek), Anthony Howell (Christo-
pher Swain), Samuel Glyde-Rees (Young Joe Burkett), Edward Harper-
Jones (Andrew Burkett), Nichola Anderson (Maya’'s Solicitor), Craig
Shorrock (Chris Cowley)

Summary: Suspicion falls on Maya when she’s found at a crime scene — but she’s
the one who makes an accusation. McGreggor discovers something
new about Kierce.

The episode starts with Detective Kierce
still at the bridge with Nicole when he
gets a call from Marty about Maya. De-
tective Kierce joins Marty at the crime
scene to take Maya’s statement. Accord-
ing to Maya, she got an anonymous call
on her landline, informing her where to
find Tommy Dark, and she was shocked
to discover his dead body stowed away in
a freezer.

She was apparently looking for Tommy
to shed some light on what happened to
her sister. She asks to leave the scene,
but Marty tries to stop her. She reflexively hits him, and Detective Kierce escalates the situation.
He warns Marty to be careful as Maya is still a Burkett, and they will need evidence before bring-
ing her in. They decide to keep Maya’s car, and Detective Kierce makes a snide comment about
how dead bodies surround her. In retaliation, Maya confronts him about being on the Burkett's
payroll.

Detective Kierce is surprised by this allegation and takes Maya back to his place. He shows
her his financial documents and how he lives. He points out that he is planning his wedding and
has a baby on the way. He is not risking all these for Burkett’s money.

He questions why Maya would think he is being paid off, and she mentions Caroline. Detective
Kierce asks Maya to report him if she thinks he is dirty and demands she tell him the truth if
she is innocent. He says Tommy’s body being found by her puts her in a risky position. She tells
him about Tommy being on Burkett’s payroll and says that is all she knows.
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After this confrontation, Maya picks up Lily from Eddie’s place. She had him pick her up from
Judith’s house. They talk about what is going on with Maya, and she tells him about finding
Tommy’s body. They question how Tommy’s death might be related to Claire’s murder. Maya
feels she is running out of time, and Eddie helps her discover more about Swain. He recognises
the building where Swain took his profile picture. They also talk about Eddie’s hard time with
his wife’s death and encourage each other.

Later, Maya sneaks into the building and finds out that Swain was probably sent to rehab
after his last wild party. This happens every time, and it looks like Swain is struggling with a
drinking addiction.

Meanwhile, at the police station, Marty tries to cover up for Detective Kierce and learns about
the death of his partner’s wife. It turns out Kierce’s first fiancée was murdered in the line of duty,
sending Kierce into alcoholism.

At Eddie’s place, he talks to his daughter about her half-brother and why she went looking
for him. Eddies assures her that the young man had nothing to do with Claire’s death and asks
if he can reach out to him. Unfortunately, Dan hears his sister met their new brother without
him and gets angry.

On the other hand, Kierce attends an AAA meeting and reveals he is scared to die on his wife
and kid. He doesn’t want to leave them behind to deal with his loss. After this, Nicole encourages
him to tell Molly the truth. This time, Kierce takes her advice and comes clean. It turns out he
was worried for nothing because she is ready to support and be there for him through it all. They
love each other, and that is all that matters.

At the same time, Maya gets a call from Caroline, saying that she also saw Joe, and he gave
her a message for Maya. Before Caroline can say more, the phone is disconnected. Maya calls
back, and a man picks up but says nothing. He only breathes loudly on the phone. The call
scares Maya, and she ensures she and Lily are safe in the house. She starts having flashbacks
to all the things that have been happening recently. As she writes down some things, a strange
man watches her through the window.

The following day, Eddie reconnects the three siblings by inviting Louis to the house. The
family spends time together, and Eddie asks if Louis wants to meet his father. Louis is excited by
this and agrees. This time, his sister is more welcoming and shares more about their mom.

At the police station, the blood test results found in Maya’s boot are done. The blood belongs to
Tommy, and Marty also finds out that Maya was not alone as she claimed when visiting Tommy’s
locker. This is definite evidence and the police bring Maya in for more questioning. Maya insists
she is innocent and is probably being framed. This time, she tells the police about Corey and
where to find him.

The police are surprised that she is working with the whistle-blower who messed up her
life, but she claims that she is trying to find out more about Claire’s death. Maya thinks Claire
was killed over a potential scandal involving the company’s pharmaceutical products. The police
quickly try to find Corey, and the boss suggests Marty and Kierce split to cover more ground.

Marty is worried that Kierce is giving Maya so many chances. He is also concerned about
Kierce’s health and bans him from driving. Kierce tells him that he talked to Molly, and he feels
better.

In the meantime, Shane picks up Maya from the police station and demands the truth. She
refuses to tell him more about what is going on. Maya promises to tell him everything soon and
never to lie to him.

He updates her on Swain. The man has a drinking problem, and his wealthy family has
covered up all his DUIs. Maya visits Judith to ask for help to track Swain down. Judith gladly
helps but asks Maya to find someone to talk to about everything happening. She alludes to Joe
having secrets, and Judith says she doesn’t want to lose Maya, too. During this visit, Maya puts
a tracker on Izabella’s boyfriend’s car as he works for Judith.

Back at the police station, Kierce finds out that a military officer made an official request to
look into Claire’s case. He thinks it is Shane, and his boss orders him to talk to the military
officer. As they talk, the police get hacked by Corey and are locked out of their system. Kierce
tries to reach Marty to warn him that Corey is on to them and won’t be at the arcade. He will
likely be in the woods, and Kierce opts to drive there. Marty is displeased by this and tries to get
there before something happens to Kierce.
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On her way to the rehab, Judith recommended Maya gets a call from Shane. She lies to him
that she is home and can’t meet. She is unaware that Shane is at her place and knows she is not
there. She arrives at the rehab and is ushered in to see Swain. She tells him she is Joe’s widow
and asks about Andrew’s death. She is shocked when Swain claims that Joe killed Andrew.
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Episode 7

Season 1
Episode Number: 7
Season Episode: 7

( N\
Originally aired: Monday January 01, 2024
Writer: Danny Brocklehurst
Director: David Moore
Show Stars: Michelle Keegan (Maya Stern), Richard Armitage (Joe Burkett), Adeel

Akhtar (Sami Kierce), Joanna Lumley (Judith Burkett), Daniel Burt
(Daniel Walker), Dino Fetscher (Marty McGreggor), Marcus Garvey (Ed-
die Walker), Danya Griver (Abby Walker), Hattie Morahan (Caroline
Burkett), Emmett J Scanlan (Shane Tessier), Thea Taylor-Morgan (Lily
Burkett)

Guest Stars: Anthony Howell (Christopher Swain), Samuel Glyde-Rees (Young Joe
Burkett), Edward Harper-Jones (Andrew Burkett), Laurie Kynaston
(Corey Rudzinski), Niall Costigan (Corey’s Brief), Frederick Szkoda
(Luka Godek), Natalia Kostrzewa (Izabella Godek), Jade Anouka (Nicole
Butler), Clara Indrani (Molly Sardana), Karishma Navekar (Kitty
Shum), Jackie Knowles (Busy Burrito Manager), Lawrence Hodgson-
Mullings (PJ), Craige Els (Coach Phil), Charlotte Melia (Pam Proctor),
Connor Porter (Rambo), Ciara Ford (Rambo’s Girlfriend)

Sumimary: As the police close in on a suspect, Maya decides to take drastic action.
Shane begs her for answers and learns the truth about their shared
past.

The episode picks up where we left off,
with Maya questioning Swain about why
he thinks Joe killed his brother. Swain
narrates how it all started after Theo
Mora joined Franklin Biddle Academy.
Theo was charming, a people person and
a superb athlete. Swain thinks this is why
Joe saw him as a threat.

That fateful day, a few boys led by An-
drew, Swain and Joe decided to prank
Theo. They got him from his room to cel-
ebrate with a little hazing. For the bet-
ter part, Theo went along with it until Joe
tied him to a chair and forced him to drink a tremendous amount of vodka down Theo’s throat
using a funnel. The other boys wanted to stop when Theo’s legs started thrashing, but Joe kept
pouring, and ultimately, Theo died. Joe then swore the four boys into secrecy, and they left Theo
there.

A few weeks later, on the yacht, the guilt got to Andrew, and he expressed his desire to confess.
Joe assured him it would be okay, but later, Andrew went up on the deck while the other boys
slept below. A few minutes later, Joe followed him up, and suddenly, there was a splash, and
Andrew was dead. Swain apologises and says he was scared to say anything. However, with Joe
dead, he finally feels safe to tell the truth.

Elsewhere, Kierce tracks Corey down in his hiding place in the forest. Corey tries to run away
but is apprehended and brought back to the station. Corey is surprised to hear he is being
charged on suspicion of the conspiracy to murder Tommy Dark and concealing a dead body. He
firmly denies these allegations and asks to speak privately to Kierce. He comes forth about his
investigation into Burkett's Global and their botched-up pharmaceutical drugs.
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As Corey explains more about his discoveries, it dawns on Kierce that these drugs have caused
his symptoms. He downs them like candy, and now he might lose his life because he trusted that
company! He realises that he has been hallucinating Nicole all this time. She is actually his dead
fiancée, and he feels guilty he was off duty when she died. He says goodbye to her 'ghost’, and
Mart notices Kierce is talking to himself. He checks on Kierce and informs him that they are on
to PJ.

Meanwhile, Shane calls Maya to tell her that the police know he tested a bullet for her. How-
ever, Shane is more perplexed to find out that the same gun killed Joe and Claire. Maya asks him
to trust her and says she is dropping by his house. She visits him and talks about the incident
in the army that led to the death of innocent civilians.

Maya switched off Shane’s comms and launched a missile on an approaching van. Maya had
been asked not to engage and await confirmation on positive identification. However, her team
was already injured, and she decided to take a risk and bombed the approaching van. She feels
immense guilt, while Shane is simply shocked. He thought they had authorisation to shoot down
the vehicle. After this, Maya excuses herself, saying she wants to use the toilet, but runs away
after getting an alert that Luca, Izabella’s brother, is on the move.

She destroys her sim card, buys a burner phone and gets a hat in an attempt to go incognito.
She calls Eddie on a burner phone and asks him to meet her. Eddie is surprised by her strange
behaviour, and she explains some people are after her. Adding, she needs to find out who killed
Claire. They drive to Lily’s school, and she authorises Eddie to pick Lily up later that day. She
also asks to watch over Lily from afar for a while. Before leaving, she convinces Eddie to switch
cars.

Back to our detectives, they get a tip about PJ’s whereabouts and try to get there before he
leaves. Unfortunately, PJ spots them and takes off, running towards the rooftop. Although sick,
Kierce follows him up and corners him on one of the roofs. PJ is scared of falling and tries to
grab onto a chimney. Kierce joins him up the roof and starts questioning him about the events
leading to Joe’s death.

PJ admits to being in the park but denies killing Joe. He says he was there with his friend
Rambo to steal handbags and phones. That night, Rambo witnessed who killed Joe, and he came
running. He and PJ quickly left the park, but PJ got into a minor accident. He then called his dad
to help, but Phil advised him not to say anything about what he saw. As they talk, Kierce starts
feeling dizzy and struggles to stay conscious. To help him, PJ tries to reach him but accidentally
falls. Luckily, he didn’'t die. However, Kierce realises he is not fit to work and is suspended
pending an investigation.

Marty feels guilty for not reporting Kierce and tries to see him off. Kierce doesn’t tell him
about Rambo and lies that PJ said nothing useful. He, however, tells him about the medications
making him sick and worries it might be too late to save himself. Instead of going home, Kierce
tracks down Rambo and accosts him in the toilet. He threatens to arrest Rambo and interrogates
him about his involvement in Joe’s murder.

In the meantime, Maya tracks down Izabella and Luca and holds them at gunpoint. She
finds Joe’s clothes in their belongings, and they admit they deepfaked the video. Luca wore Joe’s
clothes, and they got footage from their wedding video to help them pull this off. Maya is too
stunned to speak after learning they were working under the orders of Judith. Judith believes
she killed Joe and wanted Maya to lose her mind and make a mistake. Maya orders Izabella and
Luca to get in the back of Luca’s truck and is surprised to see Shane call out her name.

Shane asks for an explanation, and Maya drops a bombshell on our heads. She point-blank
admits she killed Joe after discovering who he really was.
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Episode 8

Season 1
Episode Number: 8
Season Episode: 8

N\
Originally aired: Monday January 01, 2024
Writer: Danny Brocklehurst
Director: David Moore
Show Stars: Michelle Keegan (Maya Stern), Richard Armitage (Joe Burkett), Adeel

Akhtar (Sami Kierce), Joanna Lumley (Judith Burkett), Daniel Burt
(Daniel Walker), Dino Fetscher (Marty McGreggor), Marcus Garvey (Ed-
die Walker), Danya Griver (Abby Walker), Hattie Morahan (Caroline
Burkett), Emmett J Scanlan (Shane Tessier), Thea Taylor-Morgan (Lily
Burkett)

Guest Stars: Natalie Anderson (Claire Walker), Natalia Kostrzewa (Izabella Godek),
Connor Porter (Rambo), Lawrence Hodgson-Mullings (PJ), Frederick
Szkoda (Luka Godek), Natalie Amber (Katherine Donigan), Laurie Ky-
naston (Corey Rudzinski), James Northcote (Neil Burkett), Anna Swan
(English News Anchor), Nicola Achilleas (News Reporter), Molly Keir-
Barton (Adult Lily)

Summary: With the last pieces of the puzzle starting to fall into place, Maya con-
fronts her husband’s family one last time, and Kierce seeks help from
Corey.
\ & J

The episode begins with Maya admitting
to Shane that she killed her husband.
She tells Shane that Joe murdered Claire
because she learned the truth about him.
Maya was in denial but couldn’t deny
it after investigating and finding tangible
proof that Joe did it.

After having her suspicions for months,
Maya asked Shane to test a bullet for
her. The results proved that Joe used one
of their guns to kill her sister. She then
called Joe and asked to meet him in the
park, revealing she knew what he did.
Maya knew that Joe would come prepared with a gun, so she switched the deactivated Glock
with the one he used to kill Claire.

Well, Claire was snooping around, asking about the past and colluding with Corey to take
down Burkett Global. Joe couldn’t risk Claire ruining everything and revealing he killed his
brother and Theo. He came up with a plan to kill her in her home and make it look like a
robbery. He could have gotten away with it until Maya started suspecting him. However, Joe
thought he could still get away with it and tried to shoot Maya that night at the park.

The only problem was that he didn’'t know she had switched the guns. After he mocks Maya,
saying she can never prove it, she shoots him two times before setting the stage to act like a
bereaved wife and blame the motorbike guys. She then shot him one more time to make sure he
was dead, and that was a wrap for Joe.

Maya asks Shane to drop Izabella and Luca off near their home and leave them to walk. She
heads back home and writes a letter for Lily. As Maya thinks about it, she remembers that Joe
used her car a few weeks back. She believes he used her car to transport Tommy and dump him
in the storage unit. Her husband truly was evil.

23



Fool Me Once Episode Guide

Meanwhile, Rambo confesses to Kierce that he saw Maya shooting her husband. Kierce calls
Marty and convinces him to put an ANPR on Maya’s car. Unfortunately, Maya switched cars with
Eddie. After a wild drive through town, Marty and Kierce arrive at Lily’s school only to find Eddie
picking up his niece. Eddie reveals that his car has a tracker and is parked at Maya’s house.

Kierce drives to the house and arrests Maya. She asks him for time to confess everything, and
they devise a plan to get Judith and the family to face up to what they have been hiding.

She teams up with Corey and Kierce to reveal all the family’s dirty linen on a global streamline.
She uses the camera on the digital picture frame and sets it up in Judith’s house. Judith,
Caroline and Neil return home after a meeting and are surprised to see her there.

Maya confronts Judith for trying to make her look insane and admits to killing Joe. Maya
also intentionally leaves her gun behind on a table. As Maya and Judith confront each other
and talk about Theo, Andrew, Claire, the botched drugs, and everything in between, Caroline is
too stunned to speak. Judith argues that they can blame Joe for everything and get away. She
believes there is no need to fight over the past and says they could all use a clean slate. However,
Maya says it is too late.

On the other hand, Neil gets tired of the back-and-forth argument and grabs the gun. He says
that they can claim Maya threatened them, and they shot her in self-defence. He shoots her three
times, Killing her. Before dying, Maya smiles, saying it is all over, and Judith realises that Maya
was streaming everything.

The news hits the world, and the Burketts find themselves in legal and financial trouble.
Maya’s death saddens Kierce, but Corey clarifies that Maya planned all this. She intentionally
left the gun unattended and, in a way, wanted to end things like this. After killing all those
civilians and Joe, she was done.

The show ends with a time jump to eighteen years later. Kierce drops by to visit Lily in the
hospital after she gave birth to a beautiful girl named Maya. We learn that Eddie raised Lily
according to her last wish. Kierce survived, and Shane is still part of Lily’s life.
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0108 (News Reporter)
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0108 (Katherine Donigan)

Manoj ANnand ..........c.ueuiiiiiii i e 1
0102 (WFA Pilot Instructor)
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0101 (Claire Walker); 0102 (Claire Walker); 0103
(Claire Walker); 0105 (Claire Walker); 0106 (Claire
Walker); 0108 (Claire Walker)
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JOEArmMSIIONg .....ovviiiiiii e 4

0101 (Alexander Dosman); 0103 (Alexander Dos-
man); 0104 (Alexander Dosman); 0105 (Alexan-
der Dosman)

Bobby Bedi........coooiiiiiiiii 1
0101 (Local Resident)

EnaBegovic........ooiiiiiiiiiiiii 1
0101 (Italian Reporter)

Paul Bridges. ........covuiiiiiiiiii i 1
0106 (Tony)

Nicola Brome .. ....o.vvvivieineieieeieennenenenenenns 1

0102 (Heather Howell)

Charlie Cain......oviiiin it 4
0103 (Louis); 0104 (Louis); 0105 (Louis); 0106 (Louis)

Niall Costigan ......c.oouiiiiniiiiii i 1
0107 (Corey’s Brief)

7200 0 B0 o/ - b i 2

0102 (H); 0103 (H)

Rachel Denning ...........covviiiiiiiiiiiiiiniienenn.. 2
0103 (Katie Crabbe); 0106 (Katie Crabbe)

Craige EIs. ... ..ot 5
0101 (Coach Phil); 0103 (Coach Phil); 0104 (Coach
Phil); 0105 (Coach Phil); 0107 (Coach Phil)

Cynthia Emeagi..................ooiiiiiiiiiiii 2
0102 (Nurse); 0103 (Nurse)
Anna-Maria Everett........... ..o i 1

0105 (Raisa Mora)

Nicholas Farrell ............ciiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiienennns 1
0105 (Neville Lockwood)
Cilara Ford.......oovviiiiiiiiii ittt 1

0107 (Rambo’s Girlfriend)

Samuel Glyde-Rees ...............ooooiiiiii i 5
0101 (Young Joe Burkett); 0104 (Young Joe Bur-
kett); 0105 (Young Joe Burkett); 0106 (Young
Joe Burkett); 0107 (Young Joe Burkett)
ROSS Grant .........ooviiiiiii it 1
0101 (Charlie)

Chris Hannon ..........ooouiiiiiiii it ciiiaanns 1
0103 (Woodland Student)
Edward Harper-Jones .............coovviiiiinniiniinn, 5

0101 (Andrew Burkett); 0104 (Andrew Burkett); 0105
(Andrew Burkett); 0106 (Andrew Burkett); 0107

(Andrew Burkett)
Lawrence Hodgson-Mullings ......................oo.. e 4
0104 (PJ); 0105 (PJ); 0107 (PJ); 0108 (PJ)
Anthony Howell ...... ... 2

0106 (Christopher Swain); 0107 (Christopher Swain)

ClaraIndrani..........ccoiiiiiiiiii it eei s 5
0101 (Molly Sardana); 0102 (Molly Sardana); 0105
(Molly Sardana); 0106 (Molly Sardana); 0107

(Molly Sardana)

Natasha Joseph........c.ooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiii i 1
0105 (Dr Leah Garrison)

Molly Keir-Barton..........cooviiiiiiiiiiiiiinininaen.. 1
0108 (Adult Lily)

Jackie KNowles.........oovuiiiiiiiiiiiiieanennss 1
0107 (Busy Burrito Manager)

Natalia KOStrzewa . ......o.vvvrvieieinieieenieeennennnenns 5

0101 (Izabella Godek); 0102 (Izabella Godek); 0106
(Izabella Godek); 0107 (Izabella Godek); 0108

(Izabella Godek)
Syreeta Kumar..........coooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiii i, 3
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0103 (Oona Dark); 0104 (Oona Dark); 0106 (Oona 0101 (Luka Godek); 0106 (Luka Godek); 0107 (Luka
Dark) Godek); 0108 (Luka Godek)
Laurie Kynaston...............ooooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiinn, 6
0103 (Corey Rudzinski); 0104 (Corey Rudzinski); T

0105 (Corey Rudzinski); 0106 (Corey Rudzin-
ski); 0107 (Corey Rudzinski); 0108 (Corey Rudzin-

; JohnTueart............oooiiiiiiiiiiiiiii i 1
k
ski) 0102 (Gary)
Adelle LeONCe. ....o.vviiiiiiii i 4 . .
0101 (EVa Flnn); 0102 [EVa Flnn): 0103 (EVa Flnn]; Miles Yeklnnl. ............................................. 1
Judy Loe.. ..o 1

0106 (Glamorous Woman)

Charlotte Melia..........ooitiiii i 3

0101 (Pam Proctor); 0106 (Pam Proctor); 0107 (Pam
Proctor)

Anthony MiSSeIN . ......vuiiuiiiiniii it 1
0101 (Dance Instructor)

Abid Mohammed ............cooiiiiiiiiii i 1
0103 (Assistant at Photography Shop)

RaviMultani............ccooiiiiiiiiiiii it 1

0102 (WFA Pilot Instructor)

Karishma Navekar............couviiiiininininininenenen 2
0102 (Kitty Shum); 0107 (Kitty Shum)
James Northcote ...t 5

0101 (Neil Burkett); 0102 (Neil Burkett); 0103 (Neil
Burkett); 0105 (Neil Burkett); 0108 (Neil Bur-

kett)
P
Thom Petty ......ooiiiii s 1
0106 (Moderator)
Connor Porter...... ..ot 2
0107 (Rambo); 0108 (Rambo)
Sofia PriCe ...oovii i e 1

0104 (Shopper)

Mark Rainsbury...........coooiiiiiiiiiii ... 1
0102 (Cafe Customer)

Jatinder Rehal ............ ... ... i, 1
0102 (WFA Pilot Instructor)

James RObINSON ..ottt 1

0105 (Teacher)

Eva Scott .. ..o e 1
0105 (Jenny)

Sameera Shahid..................coiiiiii i 1
0103 (IT Consultant)

Kevin Shen ........cooiiiiiiiiiiii i iieeaens 1
0104 (Dr Wu)

Craig ShorrocKk...........oooiiiiiiiiiiiii 1
0106 (Chris Cowley)

PN 01 o F= T 11117 b o U 1
0108 (English News Anchor)

Frederick Szkoda...........cooviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiin i 4
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